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DEFENDANT’S SECOND MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

INTRODUCTION

“Sometimes the only way to fix a mistake- is to make it twice.”

!

A quote from “Girl Talk”, a novel by Julianna Baggott.’
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4

LUy

This quote from this contémporary hovelist, essayist, and poet, le;hds> relevant
’ & { 1
profoundness to a very tortured set of circumstances. Mr. David Yarde is an INNOCENT thén
o =
convicted of second degree murder where he is presently serving 15 to life. The reason whx he

-
-

!

Vclaims he is innocent is because, and since his conviction, he has providéd not only the
Commonwealth but the Trial Court proof of this innocence, which has yet to be fon'nal‘lvy‘
addressed due to previous “mistakes”.? As such:

NOW COMES the Defendant, David Yarde, by and through his Counsel, and

respectfully moves this Honorable Court, pursuant to Mass. R. Crim. P. 30 (b), Mass. Const. Pt.

* Julianna Baggott (born 30 September 1969) is a novelist, essayist and poet who also writes under the
pen names Bridget Asher and N.E. Bode. She is an associate professor at Florida State University’s
College of Motion Picture Arts. Baggott has published over twenty books and where she published her
first novel, “Girl Talk”, while she was still in her twenties. “Girl Talk” was a national bestseller.

2 The evidence of Mr. Yarde’s innocence can be seen via the report of Crime Scene Reconstructionist, Mr.

Lewis Gordon, attached hereto as exhibit A, which includes his “CV”. To date, the Commonwealth has
not rebutted the analysis given by Mr. Gordon via any sort of pleading filed on the docket. Furthermore
neither has this Court officially handed down any ruling, giving its’ own perspective on the exhibit. °



'l, Art. 12, ar}d U.S. Const. Amend. V and XIV, to vacate his conviction and sentence for second
degree murder and unlawful possession of a firearm, and grant him a new trial. As grounds
therefore the Defendant submits that his innoceﬁce, which is now patently evident as seen in
exhibit A, was NOT presented to the jury in the “first” instance, which necessarily was the ;‘ﬁrst’
mistake made, resulting in a jury not having the tools ’;hey needed to acquit Mr. Yarde. Then,
this innocence was not presented to the Trial Court in the “secénd” instance, resulting in it not
having the tools which it needed to reverse the jury’s conviction — we canvcall this the “second”
mistake. The result of both of these mistakes has ultimately caused a man to be experiencing
(and as of present) an active injustice — where each day he loses a day of his life of
constitutionally guaranteed freedom -a certain constitutional federal violation. See Kenniston v.
Department of Youth Services, 453 Mass. 179, 183 (2009) (“[f]reedorﬁ from bodily restraint is a
fundamental liberty interest at the core of the protections p;ovided under the due process clause
of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution”). See also Commonwealth v. Holmes,
83 Mass. App. Ct. 737, 741 (“an entire sentence served for an erroneous conviction”, is where
“the improper deprivation of liberty Was [at its’] greatest™). Mr. Yarde now presently intends to
| highlight these 2 mistakes, seeking a “fix” as outlined in this instant “Second Motion for a New
Trial” — which to be sure, alleges new grounds not previously alleged before. See the following:

SUMMARY OF THE CLAIMS -

1) Mr. Yarde submitted a “first” Motion for New Trial, filed on February 1, 2019, and
DENIED on January 8, 2020. This pleading lacked the report of a crime scene
reconstructionist which opined in no uncertain terms, that it was impossible for Mr.
Yarde to have committed this crime from his last known position, or from any other,
within the temporal limits that are dictated by the case. Although the opinions
generated in this report were absent in Mr, Yarde’s “first” Motion for New Trial, it
was readily present and available to Yarde’s post-conviction counsel, but came up
missing at the time it was needed to seek relief on the motion. As such post-
conviction counsel was “ineffective” when filing Yarde’s “first” Motion for New
Trial as, and if they had provided the report to Judge Kaplan, he would have ruled in




Mr. Yarde’s favor.’

2) Also, and upon review of Judge Kaplan’s decision on Mr. Yarde’s Motion for New
Trial, which did not have the benefit of considering the opinions of the crime scene
reconstructionist, we see that the decision could have used it, as it would appear that
the Court committed error in its’ analysis when deciding the Motion. We see this
error when the Trial Court generated its own reconstruction of the crime scene, and
which conclusions it drew being factually impossible. Once Judge Kaplan denied the
motion based the aforementioned error, post-conviction counsel had one more
opportunity to cure the active injustice being suffered by Mr. Yarde, but did not A
Motion for Reconsideration should have been filed within 30 days of Judge Kaplan’s
denial, again bringing the evidence of the crime scene reconstructionist to light, and
which would have also enlightened the trial court of its’ error. No such Motion was
filed by post-conviction counsel who was still counsel of record. Mr. Yarde contends
that had the Motion for Reconsideration been filed timely before Judge Kaplan, and
upon the Court’s review of the same, it would have been compelled to see what was
evident — that at the very least, a jury should have had this evidence before deciding
the guilt or innocence of the accused, as it would most have certainly affected the
outcome of their decision. Furthermore, and consequently upon that same review,
Judge Kaplan would have been compelled to grant Mr. Yarde’s Motion for a New
Trial instead of DENYING it. As such, post-conviction counsel was “ineffective”
once again when it did nothing in response to Judge Kaplan’s decision.

Hence, one could really argue that Mr. Yarde’s case has suffered from more than the
“two” above mistakes made by post-conviction counsel — with the “third” one generated at the
inception of Mr. Yarde’s misfortune, where trial counsel also failed to present this evidence of
innocence before the jury. Post-conviction counsel to their credit did attempt to preserve trial
counsel’s error, although they used the wrong source of authority to advance the claim. Asa

result, it would appear that Mr. Yarde’s claim of ineffective assistance of his “trial-counsel” has

* Mr. Yarde has submitted an affidavit from post- conviction counsel (Mr. Jarrett Adams, Esq.), which
conveys that he DID NOT consider using a crime scene reconstructionist in advancing Mr. Yarde’s first
“Motion for a New Trial”. He further contends that this was not a strategic decision to do so, but rather,
he felt that he had “sufficient” information with the experts he hired to advance the motion, which
necessarily relied upon the opinions from a forensic pathologist, and a media expert — both of which this
instant pleading will show was NOT “sufficient”. The Commonwealth and this Court can find and read
this affidavit, as it is enclosed as exhibit B. Taking exhibit B, and placing it side by side with exhibit A,
the ineffectiveness of post-conviction counsel becomes evident. What we see thereafter is not only how
post-conviction counsel misperceived on what he needed to advance Mr. Yarde’s Motion for New Trial,
but also exhibit A puts an exclamation point on what should have been given to Judge Kaplan on a
Motion for Reconsideration. In sum, Mr. Yarde cannot envision any strategic reason for keeping this gem
of information from the Trial Judge at ANY point.



not yet been adequately perfected. As a result, and to be perfectly clear about it, Yarde also
raises that claim here — that trial counsel was also ineffective in not advocating for his innocence

before the jury, via the utilization of forensic science.”

*Now, and that said, and since the Commonwealth (up to the present moment) appears to more about
procedure over substance (see their pleading numbered 168), Yarde can surely anticipate an argument
from them that where post-conviction counsel had the right expert readily available to them (a crime
scene reconstructionist), but mistakenly used the wrong one(s) (a forensic pathologist and a video expert)
to prove the two aforementioned factual impossibilities, as a result Mr. Yarde has therefore “waived” his
right to bring up this “improved” evidence now. See e.g., Rodwell v. Commonwealth, 432 Mass. 1016,
1018 (2000) ("If a defendant fails to raise a claim that is generally known and available at the time of trial
or direct appeal or in the first motion for post-conviction relief, the claim is waived"); Mass. R. Crim. P.
30 (c) (2), 378 Mass. 900 (1979). Rule 30 (c) (2) states: "All grounds for relief claimed by the defendant...
shall be raised by the defendant in the original or amended motion. Any grounds not so raised are waived
unless the judge in the exercise of discretion permits them to be raised in a subsequent motion, or unless
such grounds could not reasonably have been raised in the original or amended motion."

However, Yarde would fire back that he is not saying anything new in substance, as the same “claim” of
his innocence has not changed, nor the grounds for that innocence (forensic science) — as you can see both
claims and grounds on display in Mr. Yarde’s original Motion for a New Trial. In short, nothing has
changed with respect to the “‘substance” of his claims — merely the author. Furthermore, Yarde contends
that as it relates to his claim of ineffective assistance by post-conviction counsel, there has been no

. previous filing which has been made which should have included that allegation — thus rendering that
claim far from waived. Mr. Yarde’s retort would therefore volley the issue of waiver back into the lap of
the Commonwealth, where they must tango with the allegation which Mr. Yarde makes in the first
instance, that post-conviction counsel behaved ineffectively, and which ultimately led this Court to
DENY Mr. Yarde’s “first” Motion for a New Trial, due to this Court being asked to rule on an issue
without the benefit of Mr. Lewis Gordon’s report (“The Gordon Report™).

Furthermore and in any event, so long as Mr. Yarde argues that the failure to raise and/or advance ANY
claim (which could have been raised in any earlier pleading but was not done so due to ineffectiveness of
counsel and) where that claim would amount to a “substantial miscarriage of justice” if the claim was
advanced timely, and considered for its* merit, such a scenario escapes the gauntlet of waiver. Mr. Yarde
contends that failing to present scientific evidence of one’s innocence before any jury “pre-conviction”, or
before this Court “post-conviction”, would amount to such a miscarriage of justice.

Furthermore, there is also nothing to stop this Court from resurrecting the claim, and on its own volition,
the claim being that trial counsel should have presented the Gordon Report to the trial jury. Therefore,
Mr. Yarde also seeks this Court to “resurrect” that specific claim, as failure to do so would also amount to
a substantial miscarriage of justice. See Commonwealth v. Hallet, 427 Mass. 522, 554-555 (1998) (The
“resurrection” exception to the waiver doctrine arises when the trial judge, on a motion for new trial filed
and considered before direct appeal, decides to consider an issue on the merits, despite the defendant’s
failure to raise it at a proper time. In those circumstances, the issue is considered as if it had been
properly preserved.). As such, Mr. Yarde submits that when there is an active substantial miscarriage of
Justice taking place, the Commonwealth should know that no issue is ever waived, and again if the
Commonwealth believes no substantial miscarriage of justice exists after reviewing exhibit A, the time to
say so would be in their responsive pleading to this instant motion.



Oh, and as an aside, so long as the Court believes that failure to present the “Gordon
Report” to the trial jury resulted in a miscarriage of justice — “ineffectiveness is presumed” —
thus obviating the need from any affidavit from trial counsel. See Commonwealth v. Randolph,
438 Mass. 290, 294 (2002) (“If we determine that an error has been committed, we ask whether
it gives rise to a substantial risk of a miscarriage of justice — ineffectiveness is presumed if the
attorney’s omission created a substantial risk, and disregarded if it did not”) (emphasis added).
As aresult, and if this Court believes upon its’ review of exhibit A, that no strategic reason can
be conceived of why any lawyer should deprive the jury the benefit of a reconstructed crime
scene which cpntains the missing pieces (via gaps in video footage) to tell the whole story, then
it would matter not the excuse which any lawyer could give to support that denial.

ANOTHER COMPONENT TO THE LAW OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE — NOT

ONLY MUST POST-CONVICITON COUNSEL BE INEFFECTIVE, BUT IT MUST
ALSO BE PREJUDICIAL TO THE DEFENDANT’S PLIGHT

To succeed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the consequence of counsel’s
serious incompetency must ALSO be prejudicial. The Supreme Judicial Court has defined such
claims as “a reasonable probability” that “but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of
the proceeding would have been different”. Commonwealth v. Mahar, 442 Mass. 1 1, 15 (2004)
quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). As statéd above using quite
extensive language, Mr. Yarde has alleged two “errors” committed by post-conviction counsel,
and that but-for the same, Mr. Yarde’s “First Motion for a New Trial”, would have been allowed
by Judge Kaplan, and that he would no longer stand convicted of second-degree murder, thereby
enj oyin;g again his presumption of innocence, and forcing the Commonwealth to either try him
again, or come to terms with his innocence and set him free. See “Summary of the Claims"’

referenced supra. However, and if this Court seeks for Mr. Yarde to state the serious



incompetency in more succinct terms, we have: 1) the failure of post-conviction counsel to allege
in its’ Motion for New Trial that trial counsel was ineffective for not calling a “crime scene
reconstructionist” at trial to demonstrate that it was scientifically “impossible” for Mr. Yarde to
have committed this crime; and 2) the failure of post-conviction counsel to file a Motion for
Reconsideration of that DENIAL of Mr. Yarde’s Motion for New Trial, to demonstrate how a
crime scene reconstr‘uctionist would impeach the factual and/or legal rationale of Judge Kaplan’s
DENIAL. If either one of the two errors were not committed, the outcome of Mr. Yarde’s “first”
Motion fof a New Trial would have been different.

A historical account of the factual and procedural rulings in this case are in order, but a
review of the docket in this case would actually suffice, and Mr. Yarde hereby incorporates by
~reference the same, including all of the relevant pleadings which shall include:

a) Pleading #133 — Pro-se Defendant’s Motion for post-conviction relief

b) Pleading #134 - Pro-Se Defendant’s supplement to attachment to post-conviction

relief motion; -

c) Pleading #137 - Pro-se Defendant’s Motion for Post-Conviction Relief “Sua Ponte”

d) Pleading #138 — Pro-se Memorandum of law in support of law in support of
Defendant’s Motion for Post-Conviction Relief

e) Pleading #139 — Pro se Defendant’s Motion requesting that Judge Kaplan accept
report of consultation without filing with the Clerk

f) Pleading # 153 — Defendant’s Motion for a New Trial

g) Pleading #154 — Commonwealth Opposition to the Defendant’s Motion for a New
Trial;

h) Pleading #158 - Defendant’s Motion Unopposed Motion for Leave to File a
! Supplemental Memorandum to his Motion for a New Trial

i) Pleading #160 - Affidavit filed in support of Pleading #158 '



j) Pleading #164 - Memorandum and Order of Decision of Defendant’s Motion for

New Trial

k) ,Pleading #167 - Defendant’s Motion to Stay Sentence Pending Motion for New

Trial

1) Pleading #168 Commonwealth’s Opposition to pleading #167

m) Pleading #170  Notice of Appeal of Court’s DENIAL to Pleading number 167

n) Pleading #172  Defendant’s Motilon to Reconsider his Release Pending Appeal of

the Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider Granting a New Trial

In his attempt to give the “readers’ digest” version of approximately 14 docket entries,

Mr. Yarde states the following: >

1)

2)

3)

4)

This is a case which turns largely upon video evidence collected from security
cameras installed in the lobby, elevator, and exterior of 1050 Tremont Street in
Boston (1050 Tremont), where there were six cameras which monitored the
outdoor area where the shooting occurred, and which are the essential pieces of
evidence used at trial.

On the night of October 27-28, 2012, the victim, Deandre Russ and four men
were in this outdoor area: a) the defendant Mr. Yarde; b) John Collins (“Collins™);
¢) Calvin Miranda (“Miranda”), and d) Victor Lewis (“Lewis™)

Video footage captures the five individuals walking along a sidewalk in proximity
to one another. The individuals eventually come to a white pillar/column®, and at
3:17:58, Mr. Yarde, Collins, and Lewis can be seen on one end (building side
which is south and just due east of the column), all facing the victim who is
separated by the column, who can be seen facing them at the other end (street side
which is north and) just due “east” of the column.’

The last footage depicting the locations of the four men prior to the shooting
occurs at 3:18:02. At that time, Mr. Yarde can be seen on the southwest side of
the column facing the victim who is on the northwest side of the column. The

* Mr. Yarde relies upon, and hereby incorporates by reference (unless stated otherwise) the facts as laid
out in pleading # 153 — Defendant’s First Motion for New Trial, along with various exhibits including the
video footage introduced at trial. '

¢ The dimensions of the column are five feet in length and 9 inches wide/thick — and are not in dispute.

"It is a reasonable inference that Miranda is behind the column at this point.




entire width of the column separates them almost exactly. Mr. Victor Lewis can
be seen adjacent to Mr. Yarde, but on the east side of the column closer to the
building. Collins’ foot and shadow can be seen just poking out on the northeast
side of the column with the majority of his body positioned behind the column,
and Miranda can be seen northeast of the column angling toward the street.

5) At that moment the surveillance footage switches cameras to a different angle and
-the men and column can no longer be seen. However, at 3:18:03 one second later,
the victim can be seen entering the frame falling to the ground, coming to a
complete resting place at 3:18:04.

6) A jury found Mr. Yarde guilty of shooting Mr. Russ, although there were four
potential suspects, and no video footage demonstrating one over any other.

7) It would appear that the evidence relied upon by the Jury to convict Mr. Yarde
was the following:

a. Yarde is the last person to run from the scene;

b. Testimony from a police officer who claims that he believes he can see a
gun in the hand of Mr. Yarde as he is running away.®

8) To add further relevant evidence to the calculus, six shell casings were recovered
at the scene, five from the 31dewa1k and one from a flowerbed/shrubbery area
right next to the sidewalk.’

9) All of the casings were found both north and west of the column (or to its’ left).!°
All of the shell casings were found to be .9mm ammunition, and were
manufactured by Winchester (1), Speer (1), American Ammunition (1), and

®Mr. Yarde surmises the jury latched onto to these two areas of information, as it was the only
pieces of information relied upon by the Commonwealth in closing to support Mr. Yarde’s guilt.
However, neither of these points say anything about what took place before Mr. Yarde runs from
the scene. In other words, the Commonwealth offered NO evidence (let alone argument at
closing) on the time when it mattered — because they couldn’t because they had not reconstructed
the scene. Rather, and in lieu of that, they chose to argue inferences which derive from a police
-officer’s inadmissible opinion, and rank speculation from the prosecutor herself — that last to run
means first to shoot.

® This can be determined from the crime scene sketch drafted by a Boston Police Officer, but is
also contained in the “Gordon Report” at exhibit 4. This sketch was not introduced at trial, but is
provided here for demonstrative purposes, in order to appreciate the schematics of the crime
scene.

10 See the Gordon Report, at id., exhibit 4.




Master (3). All six casings were determined to be fired from the same weapon,
which was never recovered.

10) Also at trial, the medical examiner Dr. Kimberly Springer testified. She testified

that the victim was shot three times, all of which entered and exited the victim’s
body. The fatal wound entered just above the victim’s left eyebrow and exited the
back of his head with a left to right, front to back, and slightly upward trajectory.
The victim was also shot in his left thigh and right calf. The trajectory of the shot
to the thigh was also left to right. Dr. Springer was unable to determine the
trajectory of the shot to the calf. Dr. Springer further concluded due to stippling
on the defendant’s face, the fatal bullet could not have been fired from more than
3.5 feet, and was most likely fired within 3 feet.

11) At trial, the defendant argued that Collins was the likely shooter, as he was closer

in match to the description provided by Mr. Hawthorne.!! Further, Mr. Collins
initially lied to the police claiming that he was not at the party.'* Moreover, the -
ammunition found in Collins bedroom was the same as the shell casings found at
the scene.”” Lastly, the trajectory of the bullet (left to right) and location of shell
casings suggested the shooter was more likely standing where Collins was
purportedly last seen in the surveillance footage as compared to where the
defendant was last seen.'* Trial counsel did not seek any expert review of the
evidence, or present expert testimony on behalf of the defendant at trial to suggest
that from a forensic perspective, the theories of his defense would have scientific
confirmation.

PROCEDURAL POSTURE OF THE CASE LEADING UP TO THE ALLEGED

INEFFETIVE ASSISTANCE COMMITTED BY POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL

After a jury found Mr. Yarde guilty of second degree murder and unlawful possession of

a firearm, on August 6, 2014, he was sentenced by the Honorable Judge Mitchell Kaplan to life

with the possibility of parole after fifteen years on the second—degree murder charge, and not less

than three years nor more than three years and one day on the firearm charge, to be served

concurrently —

all of which can be noted on the docket. On March 27, 2018, the defendant filed

1Ty, 9:17-22
2T, 9:32-33
B Tr. 9:31

" Tr. 9:23-25



various pro-se motions which included: 1) a Rule 30 motion for post-conviction relief; and 2) a
supplement to his post-conviction relief motion. Id. at entries # 133 and 134. He thereafter
further filed an additional pro-se motion for post-conviction relief and a memorandum of law in
support. Id. at #137 and 138." |

Upon review of Mr. Yarde’s jvro-se pleadings, and in support thereof, Mr. Yarde
presented an expert report authored by Dr. Jonathan Arden (a forensic pathologist) of Arden
Forensics. After review of the same, and if Dr. Arden were to have been called upon to testify at
trial, he would have opined that based upon the trajectory of the gunshot wounds, along with the
~ location of the fired cartridge casings, the firing of the weapon would have been “inconsistent”
with the defendant’s last seen location on the video immediately before the shooting.'®

1. After Mr. Yarde’s pro-se filings, he hires new “post-conviction” counsel, who
thereafter filed a supplement to Yarde’s pro-se motlons, which included another
expert, Dr. Elizabeth Laposata.

The Commonwealth was given until July 20™ 2018 to file an opposition to Mr. Yarde’s
pleadings and did so on July 23" 2018. Id. at #144. Prior to aruling on the filings to date, Mr.
Yarde secured the services of new “post-conviction” counsel (Mr. Jarret Adams and Mr. Carlton
Williams), with their filing of appearances on September 11, 2018. A status hearing was held on

October 18, 2018, at which time Judge Kaplan granted the defendant (via his new counsel) leave

to make a supplemental filing, to buttress his already filed motions, and to do so by January 4,

2019. Id. Oﬁ February 01, 2019, pleading #153 was filed — entitled “Motion for New Trial”.

> Pleadings 137 and 138 appear to supersede Mr. Yarde’s previous pleadings (133 and 134) as Mr. Yarde
contends they are a mere magnification of what was originally filed.

1 See page 4 of Dr. Arden’s report which has already been filed with this Court — “On the contrary, all of

the evidence from the gunshot wound and casings is consistent with the shooter having approached Mr.
Russ from his lefi. . . and shooting from close range”.

10



Id.'" In this final pleading, Yarde argued that trial counsel provided him with ineffective
assistance for failing to call an expert pafhologist, failing to cross-examine the medical examiner
at all, and his failing to retain a video expert. On the issue of trial counsel’s failure to call a
pathologist, post-conviction counsel found a pathologist of his own, Dr. Elizabeth Laposata who
opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that:

“[i]t is impossible for the shots to have originated from
Mr. Yarde’s position [seen in the surveillance video]”.

See page 2 of Dr. Lapasota s report, in Dkt. 153.

Dr. Laposata reached this opinion based upon a trajectory analysis/argument — similar to Dr.
‘Arden. in essence, she found that the shots which impacted the victim had to have come from
his left side, extrapolating that iocation from: a) analysis of the location of the shell casings
which had laid to rest; b) the bullets entering the left side of the victim’s body; and c) the
testimony from witness/Hawthorne, stating that the shooter ejected his weapon from the east side
of the pillar (or the left of Mr. Russ). Since Mr. Yarde from his last known position was not to
the left of Mr. Russ, bbut actually to his right, she rendered it an “impossib[ility]” that he was the
shooter.

2. Judge Mitchell Kaplan had oral argumeht on the pleadings filed to date, but focused
exclusively upon Dr. Laposata’s report.

After the Commonwealth submitted an opposition on April 22, 2019 (Dkt Entry # 154), a
hearing was held on October 17, 2019, to have oral arguments regarding Yarde’s request for
relief. Upon review of the recorded hearings, Judge Kaplan only focused upon the report of Dr.

Laposata, and was firm in his belief that it was inadequate to advance the merits of Mr. Yarde’s

Y Although the title of the pleading was named “First Motion for New Trial”, by all accounts it should
have been perceived as a supplemental filing to Mr. Yarde’s original pro-se motions. Indeed, and on page
3 of this supplemental filing (#153) Yarde’s lawyers acknowledged that it was merely supplemental,
thereby, and by inference, incorporating by reference Mr. Yarde’s original filings.

11



motion. The staunchness of his belief can be fleshed out, not only upon a review of his written
findings (Dkt entry no. 164), but also from a review of the hearing minutes itself. What follows
is what Mr. Yarde gathers from review of the aforementioned:

1) Judge Kaplan rejected Dr. Laposata’s ultimate opinion rendering it an “impossibility”
that Mr. Yarde was the shooter from his last known position, as the Court believed
that it was not within her range of expertise to make such a finding. Judge Kaplan
reasoned that although Mr. Yarde’s last position can be seen on the camera, once the
camera pans away, his exact positioning at the time of the shooting is “unknown”.
Once the camera panned away, Judge Kaplan believed it was “possible” that Mr.
Russ could have positioned his body at an angle, all the while still facing Yarde head
on, but with his body slightly turned and exposing his left side to Mr. Yarde;

2) Upon consideration of the aforementioned positioning, Judge Kaplan argued that Mr.
Yarde could have shot a weapon which entered Mr. Russ’ left side, but while Mr.
Yarde’s physical body was still standing to the right of him — calling the pos1t10n1ng
of both parties an “obvious possibility”.

3) To explain this even further, Judge Kaplan believed that so long as Mr. Yarde’s arm
was within 3 feet away from Mr. Russ, and from the aforementioned positioning, Mr.
Yarde still would have been within the 3 feet required of the stippling, and therefore
within the range of firing the fatal shot. 18

After argument, Judge Kaplan issued a written opinion on January 8™ 2020, and for the

reasons stated above, DENIED the motion. In providing further findings, Judge Kaplan also

' As can be seen supra, (from the Gordon Report) Judge Kaplan’s theoretical “obvious possibility”, with
regards to the respective positioning of Yarde and the victim at the time of the shooting would still be an
“obvious impossibility” for Mr. Yarde to have been the shooter, as the barrier in this case would not make
it possible for Yarde to have been facing the victim (from any hypothetical positioning as contemplated
by Judge Kaplan) and shoot Mr. Russ while his arm and weapon is on one side of the barrier, with the
shell casings ending up on the other side. In any event, and for the record, and with the utmost deference
to Judge Kaplan, but any theoretical “take” he may have regarding this case after his consideration of the
proffered expert testimony would had been rejected by the jury once they heard from an expert better
suited to give theoretical “takes” — for example, a crime scene reconstructionist such as Mr. Lewis
Gordon. Judge Kaplan took it upon himself to reject opinions given by a forensic pathologist (Laposata)
holding that what is possible and impossible was not within her range of expertise. However and again,
with the utmost respect to Judge Kaplan, who is a seasoned jurist, his opinions about what is possible and
impossible is not within his range of expertise either — and as the facts would have it, Dr. Laposata was
actually correct — it was “impossible” for Mr. David Yarde to have shot the victim from his last known
position. See exhibit A the “Gordon Report” (which explains actually why — albeit on different grounds).
Once we appreciate that the Gordon Report demonstrates the error in Judge Kaplan’s thought process, we
must also appreciate the apparent prejudice, that failure for post-conviction counsel to either: a) get Judge
Kaplan on the right track to begin with; or b) demonstrate the error to him once he ends up on the wrong
track, altered the outcome of this hearing.

12



found Dr. Laposata’s testimony (in other respects) consistent with what the Commonwealth’s
expert, Dr. Spriﬁger, had already testified before the jury, and therefore her testimony would not
have impeached Dr. Springer, who was not called in any event to evaluate areas of crime scene
reconstructibn, but rather cause of death and trajectory of the entry and exit wounds. Asa
result, Judge Kaplan found that triél counsel’s failure to cross-examine Dr. Springer, did not
demonstrate “what [if any] additional evidence of value could have been obtained by cross-
examining Dr. Spinger”. Finally, regarding trial counsel’s failure to retain a video expert, Judge
Kaplan found that the expert’s “affidavit and report does not provide any additional visual
evidence beyond that presented at trial.”

THE ERRORS OF POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL

This section does not need extensive factual development after one reads Judge Kaplan’s
Adecision, aléngside the forensic report of the crime scene reconstructionist which came
thereafter. As aforesaid in exhibit A, Mr. Gordon has opined that Mr. David Yarde could NOT
have committed this shooting from his last known position, or any other. Id. A review of this
document provides Mr. Gordon’s review of the evidence presented at trial, which necessarily
'consists of the video-footage taken a moment before Mr. Russ was killed, and which would have
necessarily outlined the positioning of the parties. After consideration and analysis of the same,
and relying upon his expertise, not only did he opine that Mr. Yarde could NOT have committed
this shooting from his last known position — which would have indisputably impeached Judge
Kaplan’s analysis on that point, but further opined that based upon the temporal limitations Mr.
Yarde had to reach a position to be the shooter, he could NOT have been the shooter in any other
instance — thus leaving the “well of theories” empty to support guilt, and thus denying Judge

Kaplan any sound basis for him to have denied any Motion for a New Trial which came before

13




him.

Upon this realization stated above, the errors of post-conviction counsel appear plain.
Post-conviction counsel merely asked Judge Kaplan to wrestle with the wrong expert. Judge
Kaplan discredited the forensic pathologist provided by post-conviction counsel, conclud_ing that
she did not have the expertise to render the conclusion she did. Secondly, Judge Kaplan opined,
that even if she did have the expertise, her conclusions would have been in error bec/ause he has
his own conclusions based upon an “obvious possibility” — that Mr. Yarde still couid have been
the shooter in his last known position. Yarde responds that Judge Kapian was actually right on
 the first point. The expert needed by post-conviction counsel was NOT a forensic pathologist —
which to Mr. Yarde’s understanding is synonymous with a medical examiner — one who
performs autopsies as a primary function. |

Rather, and it appears evident that after Judge Kaplan made his own attempt at crime
scene reconstruction, by theorizing how Mr. Yarde could have been the shooter, that a person
actually tfained in the art needed to weigh in on the analysis. To be sure, there was a critical
piece of missing video-footage in this case, and there is only one person who could help us fill in
that blank on that vital gap of information, and its’ not a forensic pathologist. The jobofa
forensic pathologist is not to tell us “who” could have, or “who” could have not done this
shooting While the cameras at issue choose to chaﬁge angles. The forensic pathologist can only
provide any fact-finder (and in this case information regarding) the: a) stippling distance; b) exit
and entry wounds; and c) cause of death. They make findings affer the shooting, but they don’t
recreate and make findings about what could not have happened with respect to potential

suspects. This was just the wrong expert to use, and if post-conviction counsel couldn’t see this

before the case was submitted to Judge Kaplan for review, they should have certainly seen it
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after one has read Judge Kaplan’s decision. The Court was all but telling post-conviction
counsel that “you have given me the wrong persén”, and so “I must do the job myself”.
However, nothing was done to cure this less than cryptic message given to post-counsel by the
trial court.

In sum, and if the report of the crime scene reconstructionist were submitted to Judge
Kaplan, this Court would not have been able to challenge the competency of the report (or its’
author) in DENYING Mr. Yarde’s Motion for a New Trial, let alone challenge it in a way by
substituting his own theory of the case. As a result, and Mr. Yarde’s post-conviction counsel
attests to th'is fact, and thereby sealing the issue, but by his admission that he never considered
* using a crime reconstructionist in the first instance, because he believed that he had a “sufﬁcient
presentation” with the forensic pathologist, he wés wrong. Then, and when Judge Kaplan
informed him (via his decision) that it was “insufficient”, they should have took that cue and
filed a Motion for Reconsideration thereafter. Post-conviction counsel never took the cue, never
filed a Notice of Appeal, or some pleading to let Judge Kaplan know that Mr. Yarde understood
the defects in the original Motion for New Trial. Post-conviction counsel was wrong again.

LEGAL ARGUMENT ON WHY MR. YARDE MUST BE GRANTED RELIEF ON THIS
MOTION

A trial judge “may grant a motion for a new trial at any time if it appears that justice may
not have been done.” Mass. R. Crim. P. 30(b). When a defendant has been convicted of second
~degree mufder, and thereafter brings a motion for new trial based upon claims of ineffective
assistance of counsel, the standard to be applied is set out in Commonwealth v. Saferian, 366
Mass. 89, 96 (1974). In Saferian, the court described that in order to prevail on a claim of
ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must shovx; (as a first prong) that “there has been

serious incompetency, inefficiency, or inattention of counsel...falling measurably below that
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which might be expected from an ordinary fallible lawyer.” Id. This is prong 1. Mr. Yarde’s
arguments on prong 1 are as stated:

Prong One argument a: Post-conviction counsel’s failure to consult with or hire a crime scene
reconstructionist in lieu of a forensic pathologist to investigate and/or pursue a theory that it
was not scientifically possible for Mr. Yarde to have shot the victim (either from his last known
location, or from any new location to which he could move), amounted to serious

incompetency, inattention, or inefficiency falling measurably below that which might be
expected

Prong One argument b: Post-conviction counsel should have realized that they had the wrong
expert, as Judge Kaplan in his decision intimated as much, and post-conviction counsel
should have filed a Motion for Reconsideration, and this time asking the Court to reconsider
its’ analysis, upon reflection after hearing evidence from the right expert.

For all the reasons stated above in-the first 15 pages of this motion, Mr. Yarde stands
upon the above stated in bold-face, in demonstrating to this Court the ineffective assistance by
his post-conviction counsel. Yarde also further argues that Judge Kaplan’s decision was handed
down on January 8, 2020. Post-conviction counsel thereafter had 30 days from the decision to
filea Motioﬁ for Reconsideration. See e.g., Commonwealth v. Montanez, 410 Mass. 290, 294 n. 4
(1991) (Motion for Reconsideration should be filed within 30 days of adverse decision. Post-
conviciton was counsel was still counsel of record for Mr. Yarde between January 8, 2020 and
February 7,2020. See docket entries generally. Post-conviction counsel did not file any Motion
for Reconsideration, nor take any proactive measure towards preserving any of the Defendant’s
rights before the undersigned filed his notice of appearance (on FeBruary 12, 2020). The
undersigned had since filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was subsequently denied as

“Time Barred”. See docket entry of April 2, 2021.

Prong Two: Had an expert in the field of crime scene reconstruction been presented to Judge
Kaplan, (either in Mr. Yarde’s Motion for New Trial, or a timely filed Motion for
Reconsideration) there is a serious doubt that his decision would have been the same.

If the first prong of Saferian has been met, the standard for the second prong of the

Saferian test is outlined in more detail in Commonwealth v. Millien, 474 Mass. 417, 432-433
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(2016). The Millien court equated the second prong Saferian standard as the same as the
prejudice standard where there is a claimed error that “defense counsel failed adequately to
challenge at trial is raised for the first time on appeal or in a post appeal motion for a new trial.”
Id. citing Commonwealth v. Azar, 435 Mass. 675, 685 (2002). Under that standard, a defendant is
entitled to a new trial “if we have a serious doubt whether the result might have been different
had the error not been made.” Millien, supra at 432 quoting Azar, supra. In 1984, the Supreme
Court of the United States established its own ineffective assistance of counsel test and their bar

to prove prejudice in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 693-694 (1984):

“[tThe defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that,

but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding

would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability

sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.”
Although Massachusetts has not adopted the specific formula outlined above, it has “recognized
that the prejudice standard under the Massachusetts Constitution is at least as favorable to a
defendant as is the Federal standard.” Commonwealth v. Millien, 474 Mass. 417 (2016) (internal
quotations and citations omitted).

As such, it is likely that the opinion testimony of such a defense expert would have
influenced Judge Kaplan's evaluation as to whether this should have been presented to the jury,
and where it wasn’t, the lack of its’ presentation was sufficient to undermine confidence in the
outcome. See Commonwealth v. LaBrie, 473 Mass. 754, 772-774 (2016) (counsel’s failure to
consult with independent oncologist likely deprived defendant of substantial ground of defense
on key issue in case). Judge Kaplan’s conclusion on Mr. Yarde’s Motion for New Trial would -

therefore have to be a different one — if it believed that the “Gordon Report” denied Mr. Yarde

on a substantial ground of defense.
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CONCLUSION

This Court is very well-aware of Mr. Yarde’s plight, after many years of litigation to
date. Mr. Yarde admits himself that in this pleading he has really come close to “beating the
dead horse” — probably breaching that threshold already with the redundancy in this presentation.
But all of this trumpeting is not being made in vain. There is an innocent man in jail, convicted
only because a jury made quantum leaps from poorly-presented evidence. Mr. Yarde is limited

“to the amount of pleadings he can file, so he tries his best to make them count when he is given a
platform.

After this exhaustive journey, there is really only one of two conclusions to make: 1) A
man adjudicated guilty, and even though he has presented compelling evidence of his innocence,
along with compelling evidence that his previous lawyers were ineffective for not prelsenting this
innocence sooner, he should still be DENIED relief from that conviction, and instructing him to
seek appellate review of that DENIAL (and without explanation on why he can’t receive relief in
the present moment); or 2) A man adjudicated guilty, but who has presented compelling
evidence of his innocence, along with his previous lawyers for being ineffective for not

- presenting this innocence sooner, deserves as of right to have this pleading considered and ruled
upon under fhe legal framework which outlines the law of ineffective assistance of counsel. All
Mr. Yarde asks is that a conclusion is made NOW, with findings explaining one over the other.

Mr. Yarde prays the Court’s judgment.

W Spencer, Esq.
5 Concord Street
Framingham, MA 01701

: BBO# 630488
July 2, 2021 (508) 231-4822
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|, GORDON W. SPENCER, attorney for the defendant, David Yarde, hereby certify and swear
under the pains and penalties of perjury that on this 2" day of July, 2021, | have served the
“aforementioned pleading on the Commonwealth by serving it in-hand delivery to:

Dara Kesselheim, Esq.

Assistant District Attorney

Suffolk County District Attorney’s Office
One Bulfinch Place

Boston, MA 02114

dara.kesselheim @state.ma.us

Wncer, Esq.
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Forensic Evidence & Investigations
Lewis Gordon
Forensiclgl@gmail.coin
(413)896-9729

My name is Lewis H. Gordon, of Forensic Evidence & Investigations, where I provide
consultant forensic science services throughout the United States in case analysis, trial
preparation, and post-trial strategy, in the area including, but not limited to; ballistics/firearms’
examination and crime scene reconstruction, including shooting incident reconstruction. My
curriculum vitae is being submitted, which outlines my credentials including a Masters of
Science in Forensic Science from the University of New Haven, as well a Juris Doctorate from
Western New England School of Law.

Objectives

I ' was contacted by Mr. Gordon Spencer, Esq., counsel for Mr. David Yarde, a Defendant
who was convicted of second degree murder and unlawful possession of a firearm, in connection
with the shooting death of a Mr. Deandre Russ (“Mr. Russ™) — a person who was shot and killed
outside an apartment building located at 1050 Tremont Street in Boston, MA on October 28,
2012. Attorney Spencer has requested I review and analyze materials from a shooting incident
from: i) a perspective of reconstruction, as well as from: ii) a firearms examination perspective.
These materials included pre-trial discovery, trial transcripts and subsequent reports from other
experts.

With respect to an approach involving shooting incident reconstruction, 1 was asked to
review the series of events leading up to this shooting, and attempt to 'determjne whether Mr.
Yarde could have been the shooter in his last known position, or in the alternative, determine

whether Mr. Yarde could have moved to a location where he could have been the shooter, based




There are a number of video surveillance cameras located on the exterior of the building
at 1050 Tremont Street. These cameras provide substantial evidence of the events leading up to
and immediately following the moment when Mr. Russ was shot and killed. The cameras pan
away from the shooting at the instant the shots are fired and therefore do not show the actual
shooting. The cameras do however provide a very specific frame of reference, assisting in
creating a foundation for determining how the shooting occurred. The Januafy 28, 2019 report of
Mr. Garneau of Rampion Visual Productions, details where the cameras are located, and how
they work. I have adopted all of his report as the basis for ﬁnding the following facts:

1) Camera #14 is located on the column on the east side of the entrance way to 1050
Tremont. It pans a 180 degree area of view. Camera #14 shows the interaction of
four individuals near the base of the column that separates the office at 1042 and 1044
Tremont from 2:17:55 to 2:18:03 AM. The time on the camera is one hour behind the
actual time which is 3:18 AM. The video shows the victim Mr. Deandre Russ
standing on the North (Tremont Street side) of the column. David Yarde and two
other individuals are standing on the South side (building side) of the column. (See
exhibit 1 — Still photo and diagram with North, South, East, West directionals);

2) Two seconds later, at 2:18:02 AM, Mr. Yarde can be seen to move to the west of the
column as Mr. Russ also moves to the west of the column. This is the last time the
interaction between Mr. Yarde and Mr. Russ can be seen in any video. (See exhibit 2
— 8till Photo):

At 2:18:03 AM Camera #7 located on the west side of the column 1042/44 shows
Mr. Russ falling to the ground approximately six feet to the west of the column
1042/44. (See exhibit 3 — Still photos);’

w2
ko

b. Autopsy Evidence
Deandre Russ was transported from the scene to the hospital where he died of major
brain injuries. The autopsy was conducted by Dr. Kimberly Springer of the Massachusetts

Office of the Chief Medical Examiner. The autopsy revealed that the cause of death was a single

1t is obvious that based upon the footage, and opinion of Mr. Garneau, which I adopt, that Mr. Russ was
shot in the one second between 2:18:02 and 2:18:03. Further, I obtained the distance of Mr. Russ falling
to the ground approximately six feet to the West of the column 1042/44 from the sketch of Officer
Stephen Moy — attached as exhibit 4. '



gunshot wound to the left forehead which passed through the skull and exited through the right
parietal area. -Mr. Russ also suffered two perforating wounds to the left thigh and right calf. . Dr.
Springer also noted that she observed gun powder stippling on Mr. Russ’s face. Dr. Laposata
opined that the gunshot wound to the head would cause immediate unconsciousness and
collapse.

Dr. Springer noted the distribution of the gun powder stippling had a dimension of “4.5
inches by 6.0”, and determined that the range of fire was on the order of 36 inches. Dr.
Springer’s autopsy findings were confirmed by Dr. Johnathan Arden and Dr. Elizabeth LaPosata
in separate reports dated January 21, 2018 and January 18, 2019, respectively. Both reports are
in substantial concurrence. The opinions of the medical examiners are substantiated by research
on muzzle to target distance determination. See exhibit 5 ..

Based upon the same testimony and reports regarding the stippling, relying upon my
outlined training and experience to concur with the same, 1 opine to a reasonable degree of

scientific certainty that the distance from the muzzle of the firearm belonging to the shooter,

to Mr. Russ’s forehead was about 36 inches maximum. I don’t believe that this finding would

be in dispute.

c. Trajectory Evidence

Of further note, atier review of the autopsy and expert reports, is that the three projectiles
which struck and penetrated Mr. Russ were not recovered in his body. The trajectory of the fatal

shot to his head was from lefi to right, front to back, and very slightly upward. The trajectory of

the shot to his left thigh was also_left to right, back to front, and upward. This information alone

has restricted value, as it has very limited application in determining the location of the shooter.

This is due to the mobility of the human body and the numerous ways it can articulate and rotate.



This is compounded by the fact that the shooter can also vary their position. It is only when the
body becomes stationary or when contrasting to very specific facts can valid conclusions as to
the location of the shooter be-made from the wound path within the body.

d. Documentation and collection of evidence by B.P.D.

The Boston Police Department responded to the scene almost immediately. They secured |
the scene and the Crime Scene Response Unit photographed, measured and collected evidence
from the scene. The inventory of materials collected was comprehensive and leads me to believe
that all possible evidence was collected.

The investigation revealed 6 fired cartridgé casings located on and near the side walk to
the east of the column at 1042/44. The six fired cartridge casings were all 9 mm in caliber and
were fired from the same unknown weapon based upon the testimony of Detective Camper.

An analysis of the crime scene measurements and diagram of Officer Moy (exhibit 4),
along with the photos of the shell casings at the crime scene (attached as exhibir 6), shows that
the fired cartridge casings are all found to the east and north of the column. Measuring from the
southeast point of the column, Officer Moy determined the shell casings ranged from 10 feet 1
inch to 22 feet 5 inches trom the column. A review of the photographs in exhibir 6 provides
visual context of the location of the shell casings in comparison to the location of the column.

Review and Analysis of Evidence

Ejection Pattern

When a semi-automatic firearm is fired, the pressure of the recoil of the fired cartridge
forces the slide of the gun to open and the fired cartridge case is extracted and ejected.
Ejection pattern analysis to determine the location of the firearm and shooter also has very

limited application due to a number of factors which can effect the distribution of the expended



cartridge cases. These factors include: a) the specific méke and model of firearm; b) the caliber;
c) the surface deposited on; and d) the method of ﬁa‘nd hold which yields the orientation of the
éjcctioxl port. In this case the only information known is the caliber being a 9 ﬁam. However,
and in this specific factual instance, what assists in narrowing down the possible location of the
{irearm and the shooter. is the presence of a concrete barrier at the scene. This barrier whichis -
full height and impenetrable by cartridge cases permits some interpretation as to the location of

the shooter. Meaning, and where all the ejected cartridge casings were found “East™ of the

barrier, the location of the firearm and thus the shooter must also have been East, as placing the

firearm/shooter “West™ of the barrier would have necessarily effected cartridge case distﬁbution
to appear “West” of the barrier, as this same obstruction (“barrier”) would have prevented ejected
cartridge casihgs to permeate through it, causing the casings to bounce off the same, reversing
direction from “East™ to ~West™. |

As such, and in terms of reconstruction analysis, what makes this case rather unique is
the presence of a concrete barrier at the scene. When considering all of the possible
permutations of the aforementioned factors, which effect cartridge case distribution, none of

them would yield the location of the firearm and shooter on the West side of the concrete barrier

- where Mr. Russ was located before the fatal shot was fired._I can state within a reasonable

degree of scientific certainty that the firearm’s ejection port was on the East side of the

’

concrete barrier when the six shots were fired.

Projectile Recovery and Impact Mark Documentation
Despite a thorough crime scene documentation by the Boston Police Department, no
intact projectiles were recovered. Bullet fragments found in Mr. Russ’ right calf were unsuitable

for comparison purposes. The absence of projectiles or additional fragments combined with the



absence of bullet impact marks on the concrete sidewalk indicate Mr. Russ was not shot after
falling to the ground. This is further supported by the combination of Dr. Springer’s conclusion
that the gun shot wound to Mr, Russ’ left thigh is back to front, and the video evidence which
does not show a shooter in the area behind Mr. Russ’ body after he falls.
Timing of the Shots

The time required to fire six shots from a semi-automatic pistol varies with the caliber of
the firearm, the type of ammunition, and the skill of the shooter. What is relevant to the anélysis
and reconstruction of this event is that we know that the fatal éhot appears to be one of the first
three shots fired, and that the fatal shot took place in under one second. This conclusion derives
from the images obtained from the surveillance video, which depict Mr. Russ on the ground and
bleeding from the wound to his head within the one second time frame.

Factual Evidence Summary

e The victim was shot and killed in the one second between 2:18:02 and 2:18:03;

e Three shots impacted the victim; One to the head, one to the left thigh, and one to
the right calf;,

o The victim was rendered incapacitated by the shot to his head which occurred
within the one second time frame;

e For the fatal shot to the head, the muzzle of the gun was a maximum of 36 inches
away from the victim;

e Mr. Yarde's location at 2:18:02 was at the Southwest (building) side of the
column: See exhibir 2.

o The victim’s location at 2:18:02 was at the Northwest (street) side of the column.
and facing towards the building; See exhibir 2.

o At 2:18:03 the victim’s body falls to the West side of the column, with his head
resting 6 feet 7 inches from the column, and the victim is 5 feet 7 inches tall. See
exhibil 4 (Moy's sketch), exhibit 7 — crime scene photo, and exhibit 8 (excerpt
Jfrom auiopsy report detailing Mr. Russ’ height).



e The cartridge casings are all found East side of the column (also North of the
column as well) indicating the firearm was discharged on this side of the column;
See exhibiis 4, 6.

s Bullet impact marks were not present at the scene.

Based upon these facts and observations, as indicated at the outset of this report, 1 have
been requested to determine whether: 1) Mr. Yarde could have been the shooter in his last known
position (west of the column, and closest to the column’s most southern point (building 'side) -
and if not possible, in the alternative; 2) determine whether Mr. Yarde could have moved to a
different location, where he could Have been the shooter based upﬁn the evidentiary materials
provided to me.

In order to answecr the first question, ] am only directed under the guise of the location of
the respective parties (Yarde and Russ) at their last observed moment in time, prior to the camera
angle panning away. If the last known location of both paﬁies renders Mr. Yarde as not being the
shooter, only then do I move onto the second part of the inquiry.

Shooting Mr. Russ from Mr. Yarde’s last known position;

As already determined in the “Factual Evidence Summary™, the victim was shot and
killed in the one second between 2:18:02 and 2:18:03, and the last known location of the victim
at the mést North Western corner (street) side of the column with him facing téwards the
building, and David Yarde’s last location, was at the most South Western corner (building) side
of the column, facing the street (in the direction of the victim). Assuming that both parties did
not move within the split second before shots rang out, Mr. Yarde had a visual of the alleged
victim, and if he was holding a firearm, he could have raised his hand up with the muzzle of the
weapon “pléusib]y” being 36 inches away from Mf. Russ’ face, and began to fire. However, -the

ballistics” cvidence in this case would immediately reject this hypothesis. In any of the various
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possible directions that the cartridge cases could have been ejected being left, right, straight up,
down, or any variation of this would have yielded the ejected cartridge casings on the West side
of the column, and in positions inconsistent with the actual locations where they were found on
Officer Moy’s crime scene sketch. This finding alone renders this hypothesis “impossible™,
without even consideration of the trajectory of the entry and exit wounds into Mr. Russ.

Mpr. Yarde moving from his last known position, and with a firearm 36 inches from Mr. Russ,
being able to shoot Mr. Russ three times in under a second;

Introduction

Since my analysis has necessarily excluded Mr. Yarde from being the shooter from his
last known position, it is necessary for me to move onto the second part of this analysis -
determining whether he could move from his last known position, to some other, and inflict the
fatal shot. When addressing the answer to this second question, while I am working with
unknowns with respect to exact locations at the time of the fatal shot, I still have guidance with

\

respect to the exclusion of certain locations and limitations with respect to time. For example,
we know that the shooter had to have been East of the Column, and the muzzle of any weapon
which he held to be within 36 inches of Mr. Russ. Furthermore, and as an additional control
factor, the shooting of at least the first three shots had to have occurred in under one second.
Thus, and in a more precise manner, the second question requires the analysis of whether (and in
terms of time) Yarde could have moved to a location with his weapon at least 36 inches away

from Mr. Russ, (and in under onc sccond), where he could have been the shooter.

a. At the time of the shooting, while the shooter would be “East” of the column, Mr.
Russ’ position would still be “West” of the column.

As aforementioned, due to the mobility of the human body and the numerous ways it can

articulate and rotate, the various positions that Mr. Russ could have been at the time the fatal shot



AN

was inflicted would be approaching the infinite. Furthermore, entry and exit wounds only
become helpful if the body becomes stationary or when contrasting to very specific facts can
valid conclusions as to the location of the Mr. Russ’ body. However, and while I am not able to
state the exact positioning of Mr. Russ” body at the time he was shot, I can render an opinion
regarding the general placement of his body in relationship to the column. The crime scene
diagram indicates the victim’s head was found approximately 6 feet 7 inches to the “West™ of the
column, and where he is approximately 5 foot 7 inches, and where his body was not fully

- extended. Further, Dr. I.aposata rendered an opinioﬁ which indicates that when the fatal blow
was administered, it would have caused Mr. Russ to be immediately incapacitated and fall.
Based upon the location of Mr. Russ at rest, with his head app}oximately six feet seven inches to
the “West” of the column. along with Dr. Laposata’s opinion stating that he fell immediately
upon being shot, renders me confident in my opinion that Mr. Russ was positioned to the West of
the column when he was shot.

Further, not only would Mr. Russ be positioned West of the column, but, and as already
explained, Mr. Russ’ assailant would have necessérily been “East™ of the column at the time the
first three rounds were fired. Sincé Mr. Yarde was also *“West” of the column at his last known
position, for him to be the shooter, he would therefore be required to position himself: a) “East”
of the column; and then b) move further in a northern and easternly direction, so as to have
visual access to Mr. Russ and shoot him while Mr. Russ was positioned “West” of the column

(See exhibit 9 - diagram depicting path of mravel).?

* Exhibit 9 is a sketch drawing for demonstrative purposes. It does not purport to isolate the
exact location of the shooter. However, what exhibit 9 does is reveal the difficulty a person
would have shooting Mr. Russ from Mr. Yarde's last known position on the “West” side of the
column, having to therefore move to a position East and North from that last known position, and
position oneself at an angle, where visual access is once again obtained of Mr. Russ.
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b. Mr. Yarde must move to a pesition North and East of his last known position,
with being within a 36 inch radius of Mr. Russ, as he is standmg West of the
Column, in order for him to be the shooter.

As previously opined, Mr. Yarde could NOT have been the shooter of Mr. Russ from his
last kﬁown position — which was West of the column. By way of deduction, if the shooter could
not have been West of the column, I opine that the only potential location for the shooter would
be to the East side of the column, and within a 36 inch radius of Mr. Russ as he is standing to
the West side of the column. The only question to further answer is whether Mr. Yarde could
have reached such a location, and fired the three shots in under one second.

(i) On Site Documentation

In order to answer this quéstion, on November 16", 20.’£O I visited the scene to view,

measure, and photographically document the area. The column appeared unaltered and was
measured to confirm its dimensions. In addition, I obtained measurements to determine the
shortest distance the muzzle of the firearm would have to travel from the Southern end of the
column to intersect a target which was one foot from the Northern end of the column. The one
foot starting point from the Northern end of the column was conservatively designated since the
precise location of Mr. Russ’ head at the time it was impacted by the projectile is unknown. This
measurement is conservative due to the fact that the video appears to illustrate a smaller space
between the column and Mr. Russ. A one foot starting point exposes more of a target area which
results in a reduction of both time and distance required. The closer Mr. Russ was to the column,
the more obstructed he would become requiring an increase in distance and time to produce the
shots.

(ii) Recreation from on-site documentation

“In order to determine the feasibility of Mr. Yarde moving (north and east) to a location
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within 36 inches of Mr. Russ and firing three shots within one second time frame, I conducted
testing using the measurements obtained at the scene. A sixty-inch-long barrier eight inches
thick was constructed and a target was positioned twelve inches from the end of the barrier to the
closest edge of the head shape of the target. The image depicting Mr. Russ’ last known position
before the shooting shows the front of his left foot on the concrete expansion joint which runs
perpendicular to the corner of the West side of the column. There is separation of between Mr.
Russ’ forehead and the North East side of the column consistent with width of his left foot or
less.

The point of interscction of the location of the potential muzzle at 36 inches with the one-
foot measurement yielded a distance of 40 inches to the Southern end of the column and 12
inches off of east side of the column in order to have the target exposed. The full width of the
cardboard target (17.72") was exposed, this is wider than the thickness of a human torso. The
additional width of target utilized during testing exposes more available target area reducing
target acquisition time and reduces the total time of placing three shots on target. The total height
of the.target was five feet seven inches. A large stake was placed in the ground at 36” to ensure
the muzzle to target distance was consistent with the stippling documented on Mr. Russ’ body.

Thevtesting was conducted with a shot timer that produces an audible tone to start and
records the total time stopping at the last audible report of the firearm. The timer also records the
time in between shots referred to as “split times™. The documentation and video in this matter
did not provide any information related to how Mr. Yarde is alleged to have been c-arryihg a
firearm. The video frame preceding the shooting shows Mr. Yarde’s left hand exposed and does
not depict his right hand. Since this information is unknown the testing was conducted with the

firearm already in hand and fully exposed to reduce (he lotal time required to produce three

12



shots. The act of pulling a firearm from a concealed location would be expected (o require
additional time in the order of a minimum of a half to a full second or more. The testing was
conducted using both a two-hand and single handed hold on the firearm. The starting point was

always a single handed hold on the firearm.

The firearm was pointed at the target “point shooting” during discharge, as opposed to

using the sights of the firearm “sighted shooting™. This approach was taken also to reduce the

tota] time required to fire the three shots. The targets were addressed from the bottom to the top,
consistent with the way a semi-automatic firearm recoils which also reduces time. All testing
was conducted with a 9 mm caliber semi-automatic pistol.

(iii) Results

Considering Mr. Russ’s position at the time before he was shot, Mr. Spencer has asked
me to test the feasibility of the muzzle of a gun held by Mr. Yarde moving to a location on the
East side of the column and within 36 inches of Mr. Russ, taking into account a one second
differential from Mr. Yarde’s last known location, which was five feet of the column’s most
Southwestern point, and where Mr. Russ was located on the North West side of the column. See
exhibit 2.

| A tota] of three attempts were made to produce three shots on target at the known

dimensions from the crime scene. Two attempts were with two hands on the firearm while firing
and one attempt firing one handed. The times for two handed grip on the firearm were 1.76 and
1.72 seconds. The time [or single handed firing was 1.78 seconds. It is my opinion based upon
these results that it would be virtually impossible for a person standing in Mr. Yarde’s last known

position could: a) travel to a location where Mr. Russ would be visible and within 36 inches; b)
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raise a 9 mm caliber semi-automatic pistol; and c) fire three rounds in under one second — which
is what would have been necessary as directed by the evidence I have been presented with.

(iv)  The presence of persons, east of the barrier, but with unknown location and
distance to Mr. Russ.

The one factor that could not be accounted for was the presence of a third individual in
the area of the North East end of the column. 1 am aware that trial counsel for Mr. Yarde
(Attorney Scully) alleged at trial that Mr. Collins was the shooter and the individual was at the
North East end of the column. The identity of the person occupying this space has no relevance
from a scientific stand point. All that is known is that in the image isolated by the video expert
Mr. Garneau, a person’s foot is identified. The person’s specific location is unknown and
therefore cannot be accounted for in this testing. All that can be stated is that the presence of the
individual could have obscured, totally occluded Mr. Russ as a target or present no obstacle at
all. If the individual was in a position to obscure Mr. Russ as a target, however, this would have
added to the total time required to acquire Mr. Russ as a target by some other person moving
from Mr. Yarde’s last known position. Since the documentation and record lack specificity on
this issue the testing could not address this factor. |

All of that said, however, I would opine that if there was a person (Collins or otherwise)
already stationed in a position North and East from Mr. Yarde's last known position, and
particularly if this ‘person had a gun, and was drawn at the time the camera panned away, it is a
high probability (if not a certainty) that this person would have had enough time to fire three
rounds into Mr. Russ, in under one second.

In order to reach this conclusion — the feasibility of firing three shots from a stationary
position in a one second time frame from a position closer to the North and West end where Mr.

Russ was last depicted in the video before the camera panned away was tested. The same barrier
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dimensions were maintained as in the first test. The only change was the stake indicating the 36™
muzzle to target distance was moved to in front of the target to maintain this distance consistent -
with the stippling found on Mr. Russ. The starting position of the firearm was exposed and
pointed towards the ground and in a two hand hold for stability and reduced time.

The testing yielded times all under a second. My times were .82 and .93 of a second. My
associate gMﬁster level shooter in scenario based action shooting competitions and firearms
instructor, achieved times of .85 and .88 of a second.

Conclusion 1

Relying upon the crime scene diagrams, photographic /video documentation and my own
measurements obtained at the scene; Mr. Yarde could NOT have been the shooter from his last
known position and Mr. Russ’ last known position — West of the column, for the reasons stated.
Conclusion 2 |

Relying upon the crime scene diagrams, photographic documentation, video documentation and
" my own measurements obtained at the scene, Mr. Yarde (from his last known position) would
have had to move in a diagonal direction (North and East) to a location where the muzzle of a
firearm would be within 36 inches of Mr. Russ. Based upon the foregoing facts, information
and testing, and my fircarms and forensic training and experience; I opine to a reasonable degree

of scientific certainty that_in @ one second time frame, Mr. Yarde could NOT have moved to

where the muzzle was within 36 inches of Mr. Russ, and discharged a 9mm semi-automatic

pistol three times impacting Mr. Russ.

Conclusion 3

A stationary shooter with a firearm exposed, standing in front of a target with 36 inches of
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separation between the muzzle of the firearm and the target, CAN discharge three shots from a

9mm semi-automatic pistol in less than one second.

Review and Analysis of Firearmns Examination Evidence
Cartridge Casings Recovered

Six cartridge cases were recovered at the scene. All of the cartridge cases were 9 mm in
caliber but were from a variety of manufacturers. Detective Tyrone Camper testified that the
cartridge cases were from 4 different manufacturers, Winchester, Speer, American, and Master.
Detective Camper further testified that all six cartridge cases were fired from the same firearm.
Projectiles and F‘ragments Recovered

The discovery and trial testimony indicates that no intact or full projectiles were recovered
only two fragments from Mr. Russ’ right calf. Detective Camper testified that these fragments
were not suitable for comparison purposes.
Further Testimony of Detective Tyro.ne Camper

Detective Camper, based upon my knowledge of his work, is a very knowledgeable and well

respected firearms examiner. His testimony was rather forthright — which is illustrated by his
response to the following question:
Q. “Now if you have a live round or piece of ammunition that has not been fired in a

weapon, are you able to do much examination with that”

A. “It all depends on what the request is for the examination of that item. If the item is
believed to have been cycled through a weapon I could examine the live cartridge to see
if it had cycling marks from a particular weapon” .

See exhibit 10 - excerpt from Detective Tyrone Camper s trial testimony.
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Detective Camper further testified that he did not conduct any comparison examinations
of the live ammunition from Mr. Collins” home.

Potential Firearms Analvsis Examinations

A. Cycling Mark Examination

The six recovered cartridge cases recovered at the scene should have been examined to
reveal several types of potentially relevant information. The expended cartridge cases from the
scene should have been examined and compared to the recovered unfired ammunition from Mr.
Collins® home at 3 Oakhurst street. The type of comparative examination outlined in Detective
Camper’s testimony regarding “cycling marks™, could have yielded evidence identifying this
ammunition to the same firearm that produced the recbvered cartridge cases from the scene.
There are several types of tool marks and individual characteristics potentially present on the live
ammunition and the six recovered cartridge cases from 1050 Tremont streell. The live
ammunition and expended cartridge cases should have been examined for extractor marks,
ejector marks, ejection port marks and magazine marks produced by cycling through the
magazine.
Bunter Mark Examination

An additional type of examination to identifying the seized live ammunition from Mr.

Collins’ home and the recovered expended cartridge case from Tremont street as coming from a

common source is a microscopic examination for “Bunter” marks. A bunter is a tool that
impresses the information, caliber and manufacturer on the headstamp area of the cartridge case.
Due to the wear created during the manufacturing and stan}ping of the cartridge case individual
characteristics can be imparted to the cartridge case. Examination of expended cartridge cases

and live ammunition is an accepted practice within the fircarms examination field. It is usually

17



of hmited relevance due -« the large number of cartridge cases that can be produced by a single
bunter. I this case it ¢ Imx g\PL‘thU.u]\ greater importance since there wre four dirterent
manufzeturers. 1Wall for . rands 02‘ ammunition exhibited individual charactoristivs from the
Bunter marks in commi . ~etween the ¢ expended m’uh}:' cagesreconerad at Tremont street and
the seized ammunition * = Mr. Collins” home twould have subsiantal refevance

establishing a common ~ wee (See Exhibic 11,

NLBALN Examipation

The documents w0 rial ranseripts do i indicute ' the cartridge cases recon ered at

Tremont street were ente -d into the Natonal lntcgralcq Ballistic Information Nenworh.
‘\IHI\ Entry of the nformation from the microscopic examination of the six cartridge
cases could have vielded | amuclmnx to other incidents and individdals, Sinee T was not
provided weopy of the 5o 7on Palice Firearms Al sis un.n':x e, 1 cannot contimm if this

inforn sation was submit - o NLBIN und thany evidence from any other incident was

A d;‘zermincd 10 be from the ~ame firearm used in this case.

Conclusions Regarding | irearms Examinations

tis apparem from G irial transeripts and infurmativei provided by avtornes Spencer tha

Mr. Yarde's wrial counse: as alleging that My, Collins was the shooter in this vase.

Based upon my training -4 experience in the field of fircarms examination | opine that

exuminations for ey eling - arks. lmmu marks and submission o information 1o the NU3LN,

svstem should have beor oonducted to corroborate detense counsel™s assertivn that ihe

perpetrator was Mr. Coliv

Respecttully Subes —od on December 3 2000,
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ABSTRACT

Powder tattwoing and stippling of living luman skis was studicd over periods of hours and days until the minute injuries
ppling 8 P 53

were no fonger obvious. The evidesce of injury required as linle as 4 days 1o as much as 3

a

weeks to no longer be notice-

able in the studies presenied here. £ven after the healing process was complere, close inspection af the affected area
revealed recagnizable powder particlcs embedded in the skin. These particles ultintately disappeared over tiie intervals of

2 70 3 weeks (o as much as 6 week:.

These tests provide, for the first tinie. seme reasonable expectations for the fitte available to vecognize this type of physical
evidence following a shooting incident in which a surviving subject sustains powder tattooing an d/or stippling of the skin
from a close proximity firearm disciiarge. Such evidence can have reconstructive value as well as associate the subject

with a recent shooting ircident.

Introduction

It is well known that unconsumcd znd partially consumed
propellant particles cmerge from the muzzles of many
firearms with velocities comparable to the projectile
itself. These particles spread out wi:h distance in a conical
distibution and lose velocity \ery rapidly. [See Figure
1] Gunshot victims within a few feet of such discharges
typically sustain minute, punctatc injuries 1o the skin when
struck by thesc energetic particles. Depending on the physical
propertics (size. weight, density) and impact velocity, these
particles may become embedded in the skin at maximum or
produce small hemorrhages of the underlying capillaries at the
impact sites at the minimum, These authors therefore make a
distinction between these two types of injuries applying the
term tattooing to the former and s7:ppling to the latter.

While the mechanism of these firearm-related injuries is well
undersiood and their reconstructis ¢ value routinely employed
in distance determinations, there is 7o reliable, documented
literature that provides jnformation on the changes and
persistence of powder stippling and tartooing with the passage
of time in Jiving individuals. How does one, anyone- detective.
doctor, medical examiner. firearms ¢Xaminer- assess the age
of such injuries on a suspect or viciim? How can the veracity
of the subject’s explanation for such injuries be tested? When
can investigators stop looking for such evidence with the
passage of time after a shooting incident in which an actor
or possible surviving victim is itkely to have received such
injuries?

Date Received: December 30, 2013
Peer Review Completed: January 8. 2014

Procedure

There is no suitable simulani, including cadaver skin, that
will faithfully mimic the vital response of living human skin
10 the minor injuries produced by powder particles expelled
by a firearm during the discharge process. Yet the questions
of persistence of powder tattooing and stippling and the
changes in appearance of such injuries with the passage of
time are important ones that deserve answers. The only way
10 derive answers to these questions is to use living human
skin. Multiple obstacles stand in the way of government
crime laboratories, medical examiners offices and universities
hosting forensic or medical departments who contemplate
carrying out such research. Sometimes the opportunity 10
address and answer the questions posed above arises out of
some embarrassing misadventure during the test-firing of a
gun such as having ones hand. arm. o1 fingers too close to
the cylinder gap of a revolver at the moment of discharge.
Figure 2 illustrates this aliernate source of powder tattooing
and stippling. This source is an important onc to Kecp in mind
in any shooting case where a revolver is known or believed
t0 have been involved. For example, an improper hold by the
shooter can result in the involvement of one or more fingers
ar even the wrist area at the moment of discharge. Likewise.
the involvement of another individual trying to grab or deflect
a revolver at the moment of discharge stands to receive
tattooing or stippling injuries to that area of their hand or arm
immediately adjacent to the cylinder gap of a revolver. Short
of some misadventure during the otherwise normal test firing
of a revolver and in view of these recurring and important

. questions, there are a few of us that simply subscribe to that

staternent probably taken from an old John Wayne westerm- 4
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man'’s gotta do what @ men’k goi: Wo and use himself as a
test subject. This, of course, will :2nd has) produce dismay
and criticism from some, but the uithors weuld venture 10 say
thar these same critics are secreth ;- cased to have, and quick
to usc the information derived fron this drastic method. This
method invoived the secure mouning of a 9mm handgun in
a Ransom Rest®, discharging it mlnple times into a witness
panel Tocated a few feet down rargc so as to verify that the
fight path of the projeciile was reproducible, constant and
known for a particular sight picture and positioning of the
Ransom Rest. The inside surface of the volunteer’s bare
foream (co-author M. Haag) was pusitioned at a right angie
(0. and just below the future flight ;uth of the bullet at three
standoff distances (2-feet, 3-feer and 4-feel) previously
demonstrated to produce powder patierns in a variety of non-
living skin simulants used by firewrins examiners. Figure 32
and 3b show the experimental desiz» employed by Michael
Haag and Gene Wolberg in 1999 1o compare powder stippling
by two forms of smokeless pistol propellants (disk-flake and
flattened ball) in living skin vs. a ariety of skiu simulants
employed by forensic firearms examiners, This work was
ultimately presented at the 1999 Association of Fircarm
and Toolmark Examiner’s (AFTE! Iraining Seminar as the
Scientific Examination and Comyputison of Skin Simulants
for Distance Determinations and subsequently published in
the AFTE Journal [Ref. 1]. It should be poinied out that the
physical forms and combustion characterisiics of modem
propellants used in centerfire handgun ammunition vary
considerably, and along with nature of the fireann (revolver
vs. semi-auto pistol. long barrel vs. <hort barrel) will play a
significant role in the distance al which propellant-induced
injuries to the skin occur. Likewise. these same paramcters
can affect the density of any stippling tattooing pattern and
how deeply any powder particles might embed themselves
in human skin. As a general statement. the disk-flake forms
of pistol powders tend to burmn more z{ficiently and therefore
produce fewer cxpelled particles than tie same gun-cartridge
ammunition combination firing a cartridge loaded with a
ball powder. Additionally, the generally larger disk-flake
powder particles, because of their increased surface area.
are less able to penetrate skin. unless such particles strike
the skin edgewise. Spherical ball and fiattened ball particles
tend to have better skin penetrating capabilities than disk-
fiake powders. These differences werc the very reason for
the Haag-Wolberg experimental design. The two propellants
used in their experiment are shown in Figure 4. A coinparable
experimental design was subsequently used by co-avthor
Lucien Haag for the dual purposes of ¢+ aluating a particular
wimess panel material (BenchKote® s for muzzle-to-victim
distance determination as well as the persistence of powder
stippling in living skin.
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Figure 1: General zones of GSR deposition
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Figure 3a: Haag-Wolberg experimental design
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Results

Controlled Fxperimeni: M. Haag-G. Wolberg Desian

The purpose uf the Haag-Wolberg siudy was not persistence of
powder-induced injuries to the shin: rather it was to compare
and evaluate the substantial varits of skin simulants used
by forensic scientists to estimate rage of fire from Stlpplm(-l
patierns photographed and measur=d by medical examiners
during the autopsy of gunshot viciiaus. Nonetheless. it is the
general recollection of co-author 1. Haag that the visible
evidence of the stippling of his 26  cer old forearm disappeared
afer about 25 days. The patterns «rvated at greater distance.
naturaily. contained fewer particl=< that were embedded in
the skin as a consequence of theu reduced velocities and
wider pattern. These greater distance patterns were the first o
disappear. foilowed by the nearer d:stance patterns.

Controlled Experiment: L. Haag

Co-author L. Haag carried out a similar experiment to the
Haag-Wolberg design in a fatal shooing case where powder
stippling and tattooing of a victim w as of central importance.
The responsible fireanm was a 9mun Glock pistol and 124-
gr. Speer Gold Dor ammunition loaded with a flattened
ball powder. Although muzzle-to-victim distance was the
critical issue in the case, the appeurance and persistence of
the unconsumed powder particle injuries in living skin were
documented for three days. This experiment differed from the
Haag-Wolberg in several respects:

The ammunition in the 1999 Haag-Wolberg experiment
consisted of hand-loaded cartridges that were designed to
produce considerable unburned pow der [See Ref. 3]. whereas
the Speer Gold Dot cartridges in this experiment were much
more efficient, producing much fzwer partially burned and
unburned powder particles. The siandoff distance was also
greatly reduced to |6-inches muzzie-to-bare, living skin of
co-author Haag’s wrist area. Figure 5 shows the 2 minute
aftermath of a shot from a Model 17 Glock pistol secured
in a Ransom Rest. Figure 6 provides a close up view of
the affected area of the wrist afier § minutes. Figure 7 is a
concurrent view taken through a siereo-microscope revealing
several embedded particles of unhbamed propellant. Figure
8 illustrates the importance of lighting in seeing the minute
injuries and embedded powder paricles 24 hours after the
shot. Figure 9 reveals that after * days in this test it was
difficult to see and recognize the stippling and tattooing
consequences of this shot. Figure 10 is the final figure from
this test and shows a view through the stereo-microscope of
two embedded powder particles at the 3-day mark. All of the
embedded powder particles in this test had worked their way

1959 Experimental Design
chronograph w;:is
S&W M3Y powder particles L |
B !' . 3
\.d '
4
i
~
1" buliet
forearm
io
" forcarm
2ft ift 4§t  distance

Figure 3b: Haag-Wolberg experimental design

ACCURATE h‘7 on 1[ ] mch Grid ALUANT BLUE 00T c0 1{8inch Grid

Figure 4: Propellants used in

the Haag-Wolberg tests
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out of the skin within a week.

Unintentional Tattooing Stippling o; e Forearm

The powder injuries in this ipstane were the result of a
wreining exercise in which a Smitnh & Wessop Model 632
revolver chambered for the .32 H&R Magnum carridge was
Jocated wo close to the shooter's arprotected foreaym at the
moment of discharge. The subject was a white male. age
approximately 42 years. Figure 11 ~rovides an approximats
reconstruction of the incident by vo-author Aaron Brudeneil.
Figure 12 shows the obvious stippimy injuries in the subject’s
left forearm taken 3 hours after ihe mcident. Two of three
minor moles in the injury area pro ided reference points in
the subsequent photographs taken =i 30 hours. 48 hours. 33
hours, 4 days, 7 days and 14 days sfier the injury incident.

Si

!

[See Figure 13 through Figure 18&; The amber. unconsumed

powder particles could be easily di~ludged with a scalpel after
7 deys and subjected to chemica! 'cyung for confirmation as
nitrocellulose propellant particles. Their original morphology
also remained intact with the passage of time. The presence
and identification of embedded pow der particles was possible
out 10 6 weeks in this case if one knew where to look with the
assistance of a stereo-microscopc <! at low power.

Unintentional Tattooing:Stippling of the Fingers

The powder injuries in this instance were the result of an
incident similar to the previous example. Co-author L. Haag
was carrying out some firing tests with a 434 Casull revolver
mounted in a Ransom Rest®. [Sce Figure 19] During the
discharge of one of the very encrgetic 454 Casull cartridges,
the right index finger and the right middle finger were somehow
adjacent to the cylinder gap of this very powerful revohver
when this factory cartridge foaded with fiattened ball powder
was discharged. Figure 20 show s the immediate effects of this
very unpleasant event. The separation distance was estimated
10 be aboui 3 to S-inches. Figure 21 shows close up views of
the injury area after 1. 12. 24 and 48 hours. Figure 22 covers
the period of 3, 4. 5 and 6 days pest-injury incident. Figure
23 compares the appearance of the tattocing/stippling effects
at 1 hour. 24 hours. 1 week and 2 weeks. Figure 24 covers
the period of 1 week. 2 weeks. 3+ 2eks and 4 weeks at which
time the injury sites had effectively healed and the embedded
powder particles had worked thenclves out of the skin. Close
inspection of this final figure will reveal whitish fimpact sites
in the fingemail that are still visibie after 4 weeks.

Postscript

AFTE member and firearms examiner Richard Brmest provided
co-author L. Haag with an image of the accidental stippling of
his hand with fine spherical ball powder expelled from the
eylinder gap of 2 6-inch S&W 357 Magnum revolver and the
discharge of a Federal .357 Magnum cartridge loaded with
a 138-gr. JHP bullet. This misadventure produced stippling
and tattooing that bled for about 30 minutes. According (0
Mr. Emest. the injury sites were not well healed until several
weeks later. He also reported that he could stll see some of
the ball powder particles embedded in (he back of his hand. 9
vears later, and that he remeved a particle and had it analyzed
with an infrared spectrophotometer producing 2 recognizable
specirum of nitrocellutose without nitroglyeerin detectable.
The respousible powder contained nitrogiycerin (double
based propeilant) so it was believed that the nitroglycerin had
{eached out over the years this particle was in his skin.

Discussion and Summary

These limited results provide forensic pathologists and forensic
firearms examiners with some reasonable expeciations of the
time necessary for the discernible cffects of powder tattooing
and/or powder stippling in a living individual to heal and
become undetectable by normal observation, to include
inspection of any suspected injury area with a low powered

stereo-microscope. A time interval of approximately 2 weeks

is not unreasonable for such injuries and/or embedded powder -
particies to be observed by a careful examiner familiar with the
appearance of such injuries and the special and unique physical
characteristics of partially consumed and unconsuimed powder
particles. Any embedded powder particles will typically have
an amber appearance and can be easily removed with the tip
of a scalpel and preserved for subscquent testing at the crime
laboratory.

Phato-documentation of any suspected powder patiern

in a living individual ‘with and without a scale placed in
the same plane as the injury area should be carried out. If
embedded particles are present, the recovery and retention
of a few representative particles is of critical importance not
only for confirmation as nitrocellulose particles but also for
possible comparison to the morphology and chemistry of the
propellant in any ammunition suspected as being involved in
ihe shooting incident. '

AFTE Journal -- Volume 46 Number 2 -- Spring 2014
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-~ Desgndrea Russ 2012-13065 3

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF MEDICAL EXAMINER
REPORT OF AUTOPSY
CASE No. 2612-13065

I, Kimberley M. Springer, M.D., Medical Examiner, hereby certify that [ have performed an autopsy
on the body of Deandrea Russ on 10/30/2012 at the Boston Office of the Chief Medical Examiner of
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

EXTERNAL EXARINATION:

The body is of & well-developed, well-nourished, average-framed, 5'7 1/2%, 172 pound, Black male
whose appearance is consistent with the given age of 22 years. The hair is black and curly, up ta
1/2"". The eyes have brown irides. The conjunctivae are edematous. The ears are unremarkable,
The facial bones are stable. The oral cavity has patural teeth in good repair and an atraumatic
mucosa. The neck is unremarkable. The chest, abdomen, and back have patchy hypopigmentation.
The left side of the chest, near the shoulder, has a 2 1/2" x 1/2" well-healed scar with suture marks.
The left side of the chest, in the axillary area, has a 3" x 1/16" well-healed scar. The chest and
abdomen are otherwise unremarkable. The middle aspect of the back has a 1/2" x 3/8" well-healed
scar. ‘The inferior, midline aspect of the back has a 1/2" x 1/16" horizontally oriented well-healed
scar. The external genitalia are of a normal adult. The posterior side of the right shoulder has a 1/2"
x 1/4" well-healed scar. The superior aspect of the left shoulder has a 5" x 1/4” well-healed scar with
suture marks, The left arm has several faint, linear, well-healed scars up to 2" long over a 10" x 4"
area, The posterior side of the left forearm has faint well-healed scars that may spell out letters, the
first of which resembles "D", Superimposed is a complex area of scarring over 5 1/2" x 3 1/2".
Distal to that, near the wrist, is a round, 1/2" diameter well-healed scar. The posterior side of the
right thigh has an area of patchy skin hyperpigmentation. The anterior side of the right knee has a 4
1/2" x 3 1/2" area of well-healed scars up to 1" in greatest dimension. The lateral side of the left
thight has a 6" x 3/8" well-healed scar.

TATTOOS: The anterior side of the right forearm has a professional, black tattoo of praying hands
with a rosary. Distal to that is a professional, biack tattoo of, "NANY."

POSTMORTIEM CHANGES: )

There is moderate rigor mortis of the upper and lower extremities, neck, and jaw. Lividity is
partially fixed, pink/purple, inconspicuous, and predominantly posterior. The body is cool and the
corneas are clear.

THERAFEUTIC PROCEDURES: :
In place are a bandage over a wound (A; see Injuries) on the forehead, a bandage over stapled
incisions and a drain at the top of the head, a bandage at the right/posterior aspect of the head over a
_ wound (B), a2 neck brace, z right thoracostomy tube, intravascular catheters in the left wrist, left
forearm (2), right antecubita] fossa, right forearm, and right hand, a bandage over a wound of the left
2nd finger, bandages over wounds of the left thigh (C and D) and right leg (E and F), and a Foley
catheter. There are needle puncture marks in the right subclavian area. The drain from the head
extends into the right frontal lobe of the brain.
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Yes. - -~
Now, *f you have a live round or a piece of

ammunicion that has not been fired in a weapon,

are you able to do much analysie with that?

it &1 depends on what the request is for the

examination of that item. If the item is

pbelisved to have been cycled through a weapon I s
could sxamine that live cartridge to sse if it

had cycling marks that came from a-particular L
weapcor:. ' . , —
2nd 4id you do that in this case?

In this case no, I did not. : e
With :His casea wére you asked to look at any .9

millimeter firearm that was recovered fLrom

either Tremont Street or the area around Tremont

Stresest? . o
i
No, I was not. ‘;
Were you able to analyze any .3 millimetex
firearm that you were able to determine was the B
firzarm that was use& that fired the six spent )
shell casings recovered from the front of - -%
Tremont Street? |
Neo, I was not. ;
MS.. HIGGINS: Your Honor, may I -

approach the witness?
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A Technical Report By Carlo J. Rosail, Firearms and
Toolmark Examiner, FBI Laboraion

ABSTRACT

The following report describes the resuits of examina-
tions conducted or four consecutively made bunter
tools. This study was conducted to determine the
uniqueness of each bunter tool through an examina-
tion of the microscopic features of the bunter tool
working surface. This examiner traveled to the Rem-
ington ammunition manufacturing plant in Loanoke,
Arkansas, and observed the process involved in the
preduction of .45 Auto caliber cartridge cases.

Remington policy requires a bunier tool to be removed
and discarded after an eight-hour production run. At the
end of such a rum, 100000 to 120000 45 Auto caliber
cartridge cases will have been produced by a single bunter
tool. The bunter tool is removed from production because
of concerns over tolerances. The primer pocket punch. an
essential part of the bunter tool. will flatten and increase
in diameter with repeated stamping. The resultant in-
crease in cartridge case primer pocket diameter can affect
the fit of the primer in the cartridge case.

The bunter tools utilized by Remington are manufactured
by an outside source, This source agreed 1o supply the
FBI Laboratory with four new 43 Auto caliber bunter
tools for this project. The bunter tools (see photograph 1)
were visually examined and found to bear surface charac-
teristics consistent with the Electric Discharge Machining
(EDM) process (see photo 2).

Because of its ability to capture minute detail, Theftingate

B3 L -

Photograph 1: Four bunter tenls produced for
Remington Arms.

49

Photograph 2 (top): Cast of bunter under increased
magnification. Each character exhibited the signa-
ture of Electrical Discharge Machining (EDM)

Photograph 3 (bottom): Theftingate casts of bunter
tools.

casting material was used to produce comparison-quality
casts of the bunter tool working surfaces (see photograph

3).

These casts were examined under the comparison micro-
scope (see photograph 4) and it was found that each bunter
tool bears a unique, random microscopic identity on its
working surface which it passes on to the cartridge case it
strikes. Accordingly, headstamps on cartridge cases which
are found to exhibit sufficient matching detail can be iden-
tified as having been produced by a single bunter tool.

In addition, several of the characters had toolmarks on
them which were produced by a finishing (machining)
process (see photo 5). These toolmarks are generally lo-
cated at the bottom of the alpha-numeric characters. The
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Photograph 4. Side by side comparison of two bunter casts.

source of these toolmarks, howeer, has not Vet been de-
termined.

Further research on bunter tools and bunter tool-
marks is being conducted by the Firearms-Toolmarks
Unit of the FBI Laboratory and will be reported in future
AFTE journals. @

Photograph 5: Machining marks on two bunter
casts. Several of the characters bore toolmarks
which were produced by a finishing (machining?)
process. -
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

SUFFOLK, ss. SUFFOLK SUPERIOR COURT
DOCKET NO.: 2012-11181
)
COMMONWEALTH )
)
) :
v )
)
)
DAVID YARDE )
)

AFFIDAVIT OF ATTORNEY JARRETT ADAMS

I, Jarrett Adams, do hereby depose and state the following:
1. Ihave been an attorney in good standing in the State of New York since July 2016.
2. [ was retained to represent Mr. David Yarde to advance a Motion for New Trial after he
was convicted by a Suffdlk County Jury on August 6, 2014, on the charge of second
degree murder and possession of a firearm.

I filed this Motion for New Trial on February 1, 2019. It appears on his docket as

(98

pleading #153.

4. Prior to filing this motion, I reviewed the entire case file, but where my primary focus
was upon the transcribed trial testimony and the exhibits at trial

5. A portion of the exhibits included video footage of the events leading up to the shooting,
as well as immediately thereafter. The video footage introduced at trial did not capture
the shooting itself.

6. Ialso focused upon the testimony of the Commonwealth’s expert, Dr. Kimberly Springer,

who represented herself as a “forensic pathologist™.

N




7.

10.

11.

I further note that trial counsel for Mr. Yarde did not cross-examine this Commonwealth
witness, nor did he present any theory (based upon forensic science) to either impeach
Dr. Springer, or advance any theory of his own — and particularly that Mr. Yarde could
not have been the shooter. It would appear his defense relied upon (in total) upon the
witness testimony and other circumstantial evidence suggesting a third-party culprit.

In advancing Mr. Yarde’s Motion for a New Trial, I believe that trial counsel should have
done more than rely upon eyewitness testimony, and was ineffective in‘ not either cross-
examiﬂing Dr. Springer, or presenting his own forensic expert to adyance whatll saw to
be evident — that: a) Mr. Yarde could not have committed this crime from his last known
position; or b) any other position as defined by the temporal limitaﬁons dictated by this
case.

My review of the video footage showed that in a general theoretical sense, and
considering the testimony of Dr. Springer, that due to the stippling of gun powder burns
on Mr. Russ’ body. that so long as Mr. Yarde was within that “stippling” distance (of
approximately 3 feet give or take a half of a foot) of Mr. Russ at the time the fatal shot
rang out, he could have been the shooter. ,

Since we were guided only by the video footage which existed at trial, the only question
really to answer was wilether it was possible for Mr. Yarde to be within stippling distance
on either side of the column (there was a column which sepa;ated Mr. Yarde from Mr.
Russ) and therefore could have shot Mr. Russ.

To this end, I hired the services of a Dr. Elizabeth Laposata - - a forensic patholog‘ist, and

in her opinion she rendered the following:




12.

13.

1]t 1s impossible for the shots to have originated from
Mr. Yarde’s position [seen in the surveillance video]”.

Dr. Laposata reached this opinion based upon a trajectory analysis/argument. In essence,
she found that the shots which impacted the victim had to have come from his left side,'
extrapolating that location from: a) analysis of the location of the shell casings which had
laid to rest; b) the bullets entering the left side of the victim’s body; aﬁd ¢) the testimony
from witness/Hawthorne, stating that the shooter ejected his weapon from the east side of
the pillar (or the left of Mr. Russ). Since Mr. Yarde from his last known position Was not
to the left Aof Mr. Russ, but actually to his right, she rendered it an “impossibl[ility]” that
he was the shooter. |

Also, and since Dr. Laposata opined that the bullets entered the left side of the victim’s

body, I attempted to prove that Mr. Yarde could not have traveled to the left side of the

- victim from his last known position under the time constraints dictated by this case.

14.

15.

16.

To that end I hired the services of Rampion Visual Productions LLC, to analyze the video
data, frame by frame, and determine how much time Mr. Yarde would have had to fire
any weapon during the voidl of camera footage between the different cameras on scene
capturing the arca.

The people at Rampion opined that it would be under a second — somewhere Petween a
half a second and three-quarters of a second — and thus the conclusion wouldbe_ ai)parent
that Mr. Yarde would have only had that period of time to move into a position where he
was able to inflict the fatal shot which took the life of Mr. Russ.

Armed with both the opinions of Dr. Laposata and Rampion, I filed Mr. Yarde’s Motion

for New Trial, arguing that: a) according to Dr. Laposata, Mr. Yarde could not have fired




17.

18.

19.

20.

the fatal shot from his last known position — it had to be from Mr. Russ’ left side, and b)
Mr. Yarde could not have moved to Mr. Russ’s left side in under a second.

At oral argument. the Court never even addressed argument “b” but challenged whether
Dr. Laposata’s report brought anything material to the table that would have changed the
outcome of the trial. I attempted to counter-argue that Dr. Laposata opined that Mr.
Yarde could have not fired the shot from his last known position, but Judge Kaplan
dismissed her opinion on that issue, opining himself that she would be unaBlc to render
that opinion as a forensic pathologist, highlighting that forensic patho‘logists only act in
the capacity as a medical examiner, such as performing autopsies and determining cause
6f death. Judge Kaplan emphasized that I would not be able to elicit from Dr. Laposata
at trial (or any other forensic pathologist including Dr. Springer) any opinions about
“impossibilities™ as it pertained to the placement of people as she would have seen after
the fact.

As aresult, Judge Kaplan didn’t feel it necessary to address argument “b” of my
presentation, as it appeared that he didn’t find part “a” as persuasive.

I have since reviewed the report of crime scene reconstructionist Lewis Gordon who
provided evidencc and his opinion to support arguments “a” and “b”.

In preparing Mr. Yarde’s Motion for I;Iew Trial, I did not consider using a crime scene

reconstructionist to support arguments “a” and “b”.

- I'believed at the time the presentation was sufficient using the report from Dr. Laposata,

and from Rampion. This was not a strategic decision to do so — meaning using one

expert over the other, but simply what I believed to be a sufficient showing at the time.



22. Although I had co-counsel with me on the case — Mr. Carlton Williams, the ultimate

decision-making on the case was mine alone.

: 4 Yf*
Signed under the pains and penalties or perjury this ?‘_ day of D URE 2021,

o Ty

Mr. Jarrett Adams - —

l Calkjvrn/ﬁ Ly A%oﬁwd
e
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